          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          8  (Held Jointly With)

             COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          9

             -------------------------------x

         10

         11                 October 25, 2004

                            Start:  10:22 a.m.

         12                 Recess: 12:05 p.m.

         13                 City Hall

                            Committee Room

         14                 New York, New York

         15

                  B E F O R E:

         16

                         LEWIS FIDLER

         17                 Chairperson, Youth Services Committee

         18

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Simcha Felder

         19                                 Miguel Martinez

                                            Larry Seabrook

         20                                 Dennis Gallagher

                                            Charles Barron

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Adam Halper

          4  Staff Attorney

             Legal Services for New York City

          5

             Stephanie Nilva

          6  Director

             Break the Cycle New York Office

          7

             Vivian Huelgo

          8  Director

             Legal Services at Safe Horizon

          9

             Christa Stewart

         10  Director

             The Door's Legal Services Center

         11

             Chiquita Williams

         12  Educator and Youth Coordinator

             CONNECT

         13

             Calla Aneish

         14  Director

             Community Empowerment Programs

         15

             Reina Ramos

         16  Children's Aid Society Family Wellness Program

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Welcome. Today,

          3  the Committee on Youth Services in connection with

          4  the Committee on Women's Issues will conduct an

          5  oversight hearing on issues relating to obtaining

          6  orders of protection for victims of domestic abuse.

          7                 We will also be considering

          8  Resolution 589, which would urge New York State to

          9  allow persons who are in dating relationships and

         10  who have experienced abuse to petition for orders of

         11  protection in Family Court.

         12                 The month of October has been

         13  designed as Domestic Violence Awareness Month.

         14  Addressing the needs of survivors of domestic

         15  violence has consistently been a priority for this

         16  Council under the leadership of Speaker Miller and I

         17  know how important it is to continue this discussion

         18  today. This is the second time that the Committee on

         19  Youth Services and the Committee on Women's Issues

         20  have held a hearing to discuss domestic violence. At

         21  our first hearing, which was held in February of

         22  this year, our focus was on how domestic violence

         23  affected children including teenagers who

         24  experienced this type of abuse in the context of a

         25  dating relationship. As a direct result of that
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          2  hearing, I, together with 18 of my colleagues

          3  introduced Resolution 589 which relates to obtaining

          4  orders of protection.

          5                 As you know, a person experiencing

          6  abuse may petition the court system for an order of

          7  protection which restricts a person's behavior or

          8  contact with respect to another individual.

          9  Unfortunately, the court system in New York State

         10  makes it difficult for a person who is a dating

         11  relationship to get an order of protection against

         12  an abusive partner. This is because under State law,

         13  persons in a dating relationship are often only

         14  qualified to seek such an order in the Criminal

         15  Court System as opposed to the Family Court System.

         16  Access to the Family Court System is limited to

         17  certain circumstances where there is a present or

         18  former marital relationship, a child in common, or a

         19  blood relationship. Those in a dating relationship

         20  including teenagers who do not have a child in

         21  common or who have never been married, will be

         22  unable to access this system.

         23                 In the Criminal Court System, the

         24  burden of proof is much higher than that in the

         25  Family Court. Beyond the reasonable doubt as opposed
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          2  to a preponderance of the evidence. Additionally,

          3  the prosecutor decides whether or not to pursue a

          4  case and a permanent order of protection and the

          5  orders of protection are generally issued only upon

          6  a conviction. In Family Court, a victim of abuse may

          7  seek an order by filing a petition and is entitled

          8  to legal representation unlike Criminal Court. It is

          9  thus more difficult to obtain an order of protection

         10  from Criminal Court than from Family Court to almost

         11  certain disadvantage to persons forced to use the

         12  Criminal Court System to protect themselves from a

         13  abusive partner.

         14                 Finally, some victims prefer not to

         15  press a matter in Criminal Court where additional

         16  stigma is attached. Most other states allow for

         17  orders of protection to be issued in Family or Civil

         18  Court where there has been a dating relationship. We

         19  are long overdue for this change in our State law. I

         20  intend to advocate for amending that law to protect

         21  victims of domestic violence and expand access to

         22  our Family Court System.

         23                 I want to applaud the State sponsors

         24  of this legislation. In particular, my own

         25  Assemblywoman and Judiciary Committee Chairman,
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          2  Helene Weinstein, for her leadership on this issue.

          3  And she has submitted a statement today to the

          4  Committee that would be deemed into the record

          5  because she is unable to attend with us.

          6                 I want to apologize on behalf of

          7  Council Member Tracy Boyland who is the Chairperson

          8  of the Women's Issues Committee. She is doing God's

          9  work in Wisconsin this morning and her flight back

         10  to New York has been delayed. She hopes to join us

         11  at some point during this morning's hearing. We are

         12  joined by Council Member Seabrook of the Youth

         13  Services Committee and at this point, I'd like to

         14  call our first witness, Adam Halper from the Legal

         15  Services of New York.

         16                 MR. HALPER: Excuse me. I want to

         17  thank the City Council for its strong and unwavering

         18  support of civil legal services for the poor and

         19  it's dedication to the protection of victims of

         20  domestic violence. I also thank you for inviting

         21  Legal Services of New York to testify regarding

         22  Resolution 589. I am here today to urge you to

         23  expand the protection of victims of domestic

         24  violence by adopting a resolution in support of New

         25  York State Senate Bill 2413- B and New York State
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          2  Assembly Bill 2235- A. The bills give jurisdiction

          3  to the Family Court to preside over matters of

          4  domestic violence in dating relationships and also,

          5  Council, I want to highlight for you the background

          6  and importance of such an amendment to the lives of

          7  New Yorkers and the valuable protections that will

          8  be afforded to a historically underserved population

          9  of domestic violence victims.

         10                 As you may know, Legal Services of

         11  New York has provided civil legal assistance to poor

         12  people in New York City for over 35 years through

         13  branch offices and affiliated programs in the City's

         14  poor communities. We represent clients from all

         15  neighborhoods across the five boroughs of New York

         16  City. Eighty- one percent of our clients are people

         17  of color. For many years, Legal Services has

         18  operated strong, well- regarded Family Law Units

         19  providing services and community education in all

         20  areas of family law, including domestic violence and

         21  has focused resources on aiding survivors of

         22  domestic violence.

         23                 Council, the scale of domestic

         24  violence among intimate partners cannot be

         25  overestimated. Its effects are devastating. The
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          2  statistics enumerated in the Resolution are

          3  striking. A recent Department of Justice Study made

          4  similar findings in connection to violent crimes

          5  between intimates. I have written up several of the

          6  statistics in my prepared statement and I won't go

          7  through them now. The depth of domestic violence

          8  among intimate partners has been well documented.

          9  The need for the Resolution as well as a change in

         10  the law is great.

         11                 There are essentially three courts in

         12  which to seek an order of protection against an

         13  abusive partner. In New York, where an individual is

         14  unrelated to her abusive partner, there is only one

         15  redress in the court system; Criminal Court. An

         16  individual may go to either Criminal Court, Family

         17  Court, or if married, to Supreme Court. In order to

         18  seek an order of protection in the Civil Courts

         19  (either Family or Supreme), the parties must be

         20  related by blood, marriage, or have a child in

         21  common. If you are single and being abused by an

         22  intimate partner, your only option is Criminal

         23  Court.

         24                 The proposed changes in the law will

         25  allow people who are in intimate, dating
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          2  relationships to seek redress in the Family Court.

          3  The importance of such a change cannot be

          4  underestimated. Civil orders of protection have a

          5  proven, demonstrated history of effectiveness. A

          6  woman with an order of protection is far less likely

          7  to experience continued attacks. The penalties for

          8  violating such an order may be criminal or civil,

          9  but given the survivor peace of mind by both making

         10  a record and forbidding the attacker from engaging

         11  in certain, specified behavior.

         12                 There are numerous reasons survivors

         13  of domestic violence are hesitant to pursue a matter

         14  in Criminal Court. First, they are not the

         15  plaintiff's in such actions and therefore, have less

         16  control over the proceedings and their eventual

         17  outcome. The decision whether or not to prosecute

         18  the matter rests with the Office of the District

         19  Attorney, although certainly in consultation with

         20  the survivor. Allowing survivors of intimate

         21  violence to go to Family Court will afford them an

         22  empowering avenue through which to pursue their

         23  cases.

         24                 An essential provision of this law is

         25  that the Family Court and Criminal Court would have
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          2  concurrent jurisdiction. By giving survivors a

          3  choice of forum, the court will be allowing the

          4  person who knows best the consequences of pursuing

          5  an order of protection to decide what is right for

          6  them. Notably, the choice of forum, either civil or

          7  criminal, is already a choice afforded to people

          8  connected by blood, marriage, or a child. This same

          9  choice should be given to intimate partners.

         10                 Many survivors also avoid

         11  criminalizing the matter for fear of inflaming an

         12  already dangerous situation. Batterers are often

         13  retaliatory. Jailing them may have negative

         14  consequences that can be avoided by allowing the

         15  situation to be resolved in the civil setting,

         16  without fear of incarceration. For other victims,

         17  the goal is to end the violence, not the

         18  relationship. Many victims are unwilling to

         19  criminalize someone they love. Some communities,

         20  such as communities of color, feel that the law

         21  enforcement is too present in their lives already.

         22  Women in those communities experiencing intimate

         23  violence in dating relationships may choose to do

         24  nothing rather than subject another person of color

         25  to the injustices of the criminal system.
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          2                 Notably, Council, the lower

          3  evidentiary standard applicable in Family Court is a

          4  crucial element in domestic violence matters. In

          5  Criminal Court, the people have the burden of proof

          6  in demonstrating that the unlawful behavior occurred

          7  beyond a reasonable doubt. In civil matters, the

          8  burden of proof on the plaintiff is a preponderance

          9  of the evidence. Often domestic violence cases, the

         10  only proof is the survivor's testimony. This may not

         11  be sufficient in criminal proceedings, but in the

         12  civil case, a survivor's testimony and a Judge's

         13  experienced eye for credibility will often form the

         14  basis for the issuance of the order of protection.

         15  In domestic violence cases, tangible proof of

         16  threats, intimidation, coercion, and harassment are

         17  often lacking. The civil burden of proof should be

         18  afforded to intimates whose only disqualification is

         19  that they are not married and have no children in

         20  common.

         21                 Intimate violence often begins with

         22  low- level, non- criminal behavior, such as abusive

         23  language, striking, shoving or kicking. These

         24  behaviors are violations, not crimes, and therefore

         25  will not be prosecuted in Criminal Court. Targets of
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          2  this behavior in dating relationships are left with

          3  no recourse. Access to the Family Court will give

          4  them a chance to stop the behavior before it

          5  escalates.

          6                 Resolution 589 is an important step

          7  in securing equal protection for all victims of

          8  intimate violence. We support Resolution 589 and

          9  recommend that the Council request that the State

         10  legislature pass legislation that allows persons who

         11  are in dating relationships and experience abuse to

         12  petition for orders of protection in Family Court,

         13  taking into account the testimony heard here today

         14  and the experience of legislation previously enacted

         15  in other states that address this problem Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Halper. Let me ask you a couple of questions that I

         18  think your agency would have practical experience

         19  with.

         20                 MR. HALPER: Certainly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: How frequently do

         22  you have someone who is come into you and addressed

         23  an issue of an abusive relationship in a non-

         24  marital context indicate that they would rather not

         25  go to Criminal Court?
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          2                 MR. HALPER: It's hard to quantify the

          3  number, Councilman. It is without question a very

          4  high number. The unfortunate truth is that a lot of

          5  people never even get to us because people know that

          6  there is no civil recourse here. In terms of how

          7  many people avoid going to Criminal Court for an

          8  order of protection, again, the number is hard to

          9  estimate. What I can tell you is that the number of

         10  people or rather, Council, is that these crimes are

         11  generally very under reported. This is a phenomenon

         12  has been documented both in the context of statutory

         13  law, case law, and just generally even by the

         14  Department of Justice Vital Statistics report that I

         15  have noted in my prepared statement. What I can tell

         16  you is that people are often far more likely to go,

         17  in my experience, to Civil Court in order to seek

         18  redress. Because it is simply, for lack of a better

         19  phrase, a more civil way to proceed. The District

         20  Attorney's office, although a very effective office

         21  and certainly in my borough and the Bronx and

         22  extremely effective office at prosecuting domestic

         23  violence matters, has a much higher standard of

         24  proof.

         25                 The community is well aware of this.
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          2  Many of them have had dealings with the Criminal

          3  Court before. In my experience, Councilman, many

          4  people have already been to the police precinct,

          5  tried to file a complaint and the matter was not

          6  picked up because either the District Attorney's

          7  Office or maybe even the Domestic Violence Unit in

          8  the police precinct itself was unable to find any

          9  real tangible evidence through which to proceed on a

         10  prosecution.

         11                 I think with that in mind, it's safe

         12  to say that opening up the doors to the Family Court

         13  to intimates here will be a far more effective way

         14  and in some ways alleviate the burden on the

         15  Criminal Justice System which right now has the

         16  burden of listening to all of these matters between

         17  intimates. Whether they be teenage, older people,

         18  elderly or anybody who seeks an order of protection.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We'll get back to

         20  the burden issue in a moment. Does someone who wants

         21  to seek an order of protection in Criminal Court,

         22  does there have a pending criminal charge against

         23  the person against whom they're seeking the order?

         24                 MR. HALPER: Sorry, Councilman, could

         25  you be more specific?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: In order words,

          3  does there have to be a prosecution on other than a

          4  petition for an order of protection in Criminal

          5  Court for the court to have jurisdiction? Must they

          6  be prosecuting the underlying active abuse on

          7  assault?

          8                 MR. HALPER: Well, the answer is,

          9  well, as any lawyer's answer, it depends. The matter

         10  is certainly stronger if one is proceeding on an

         11  underlying offense, let's say assault. However, a

         12  lot of matters that are prosecuted in Criminal Court

         13  do exist on violations of some other court order.

         14  The most common example and it's not entirely

         15  appropriate here, but is a Family Court order of

         16  protection that has been violated somehow and the

         17  District Attorney's Office may proceed on a

         18  violation of that order. But generally, there should

         19  be some type of charge. It is simply a more

         20  difficult scenario entirely because of the burden of

         21  proof.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: The reason I'm

         23  asking the question is to get to your issue of

         24  criminalizing an abusive relationship and the

         25  hesitance that some might have to escalating it to
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          2  that level even if there might be an appropriate

          3  criminal violation to be prosecuted. Do you find

          4  that your clients, with any frequency, have a

          5  concern that a matter is not pending before the

          6  Criminal Justice authority's don't want it to be

          7  pending, but yet want some kind of protection from

          8  their abuser?

          9                 MR. HALPER: Yes, I do actually. The

         10  notion behind concurrent jurisdiction is to offer

         11  the victim themselves a choice. The reason this is

         12  very important in domestic violence cases is because

         13  they are often in the best position to decide how it

         14  is to pursue a case, how it is that they would like

         15  to see either punishment meddled out, although I

         16  don't really think that's often the purpose of an

         17  order of protection, so much it is to simply stop

         18  the abusive behavior.

         19                 Under those circumstances, often

         20  times clients are not looking to put the perpetrator

         21  or the batterer in jail. There may be many reasons

         22  for that. Not the least of which is that he may be

         23  providing some type of income in the nature of child

         24  support, although now we're back into the Family

         25  Court realm or they simply feel as though doing so
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          2  would place themselves in more jeopardy than they

          3  had been prior to that. Under those circumstances,

          4  by allowing someone to go to Civil Court and pursued

          5  under an order of protection under Family Court

          6  Article 8, there is much more control given to the

          7  victim him or herself. Just as an anecdotal matter,

          8  I will tell you that many of my clients do not want

          9  to be in multiple courts at the same time.

         10                 Recent court changes including the

         11  integrating domestic violence court which we have

         12  one up in the Bronx that handles both civil and

         13  criminal matters deal expressly with that issue.

         14  They have jobs. They have families. They have

         15  commitments. What they are looking for is effective

         16  and efficient relief in order to not be abused

         17  anymore. Whether it be by an intimate or anybody

         18  else for that matter. The Family Court, although,

         19  suffering certainly from the burdens of having too

         20  many people and not enough judges certainly does a

         21  very effective job of dealing with that issue and

         22  again places the control at the hands of the victim

         23  him or herself who would be the petitioner in the

         24  matter.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: You had mentioned
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          2  in passing this problem as it relates to the elderly

          3  and certainly that was not part of the Youth

          4  Services Committee charge when we first looked at

          5  the issue. But Assemblywoman Weinstein did mention

          6  the increasing number of our older citizens who for

          7  one reason or another, perhaps related to social

          8  security, have not gotten married after the passing

          9  of their first spouse and might themselves now be in

         10  an abusive relationship. Are you seeing a number of

         11  those situations arise at Legal Services?

         12                 MR. HALPER: Yes. Legal Services does

         13  work, actually does a great deal of work with the

         14  elderly of this City both through a number of grants

         15  and also just through our general civil practice.

         16  The elderly also very much benefit from this type of

         17  resolution and ultimately, hopefully this law. They

         18  are often the last ones to come forward. They may be

         19  abused by a family member. They may be abused by

         20  someone who is not a family member, but with whom

         21  they have a close relationship.

         22                 In the community that I work in, many

         23  people are unmarried and may or may not have

         24  children. Elderly people in that circumstance would

         25  have no redress but for the Criminal Court right
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          2  now. The same strengths and the same importance that

          3  I described just generally just a few moments ago

          4  and why this law and resolution is so important

          5  would certainly apply to them as well. If going to

          6  Criminal Court and Civil Court being in a number of

          7  different forums is a problem for a young person,

          8  it's that much more difficult for someone who is

          9  elderly. Allowing them the same benefits certainly a

         10  lifetime of accumulated knowledge to decide what's

         11  best for them and what's going to protect them and

         12  make them safe is an important element of this bill

         13  as well even though it may not have been within the

         14  original conception of the resolution.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I would just

         16  think anecdotally as well that some of our seniors

         17  probably have the greatest difficulty in coming

         18  forward and they come forward with a cry of I need

         19  help. But no, no, I don't want him prosecuted. I

         20  don't want to take this to Criminal Court and

         21  they're desperate for an alternative and it may be

         22  particularly difficult for them just in terms of

         23  where their mindset has developed to seek an order

         24  of protection of any kind particularly in Criminal

         25  Court.
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          2                 I want to go to the burden question

          3  for a moment. Because I know that in my other life,

          4  I've practiced law and I've gone to Family Court and

          5  it's truly a horrifying experience. You can spend

          6  your entire life in Family Court in any given day.

          7  I'm not as familiar with Criminal Court and Criminal

          8  Court calendars as I don't practice in that area.

          9  Can you compare for me what kind of burden we would

         10  be placing on the Family Court as opposed to the

         11  burden that's on the Criminal Court now and just in

         12  terms what kind of delays there would be in seeking

         13  redress in these two different forums.

         14                 MR. HALPER: Well, certainly in

         15  Criminal Court there is a slightly different matter

         16  that has to be taken into account as opposed to in

         17  any Civil Court. Not the least of which is the right

         18  to a speedy trial. As you well know, Council, that

         19  is a much more fluid concept in the Family Court.

         20  But again, anecdotally, it's hard to say what the

         21  burden on the Family Court would ultimately be. My

         22  belief, Council, after practicing this law for quite

         23  a number of years is that it would all even out in

         24  the end.

         25                 One of the reasons why people don't
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          2  want to go to Criminal Court right now is because a

          3  speedy trial is the last thing that will ultimately

          4  happen. There are adjournments, they are evidentiary

          5  hearings. They are multiple delays in ultimately

          6  getting to a trial and its with this knowledge and

          7  ultimately, of course, that the burden of proof

          8  beyond a reasonable doubt may not ultimately gather

          9  a conviction that the people of the community know

         10  very well and decide not to go to Criminal Court for

         11  that reason.

         12                 I don't think that would ultimately

         13  mean though that the entire community who are

         14  experiencing intimate or dating violence would

         15  suddenly run into the Family Court. I think it's

         16  much less likely. More likely there would be a

         17  greater burden placed on the Family Court less say

         18  than it has now, but that a number of matters would

         19  still be prosecuted in Criminal Court especially

         20  matters that are more serious; higher level of

         21  offenses. Especially ones that are underlaid by

         22  physical violence and physical abuse. Those matters

         23  may very well be still handled by the Criminal

         24  Court, but the victim rather would also have the

         25  option of pursuing the matter him or herself and
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          2  being the plaintiff, the petitionary or the leader

          3  of the entire prosecution.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I guess the

          5  question I'm also asking is, can the Family Court

          6  system now handle any increased burden?

          7                 MR. HALPER: I think that it can.

          8  Notably a few things, Councilman, is that first of

          9  all there are a number of assigned counsel in Family

         10  Court and just having a lawyer who is there to help

         11  you with your litigation is a very important matter.

         12  Recently, the rates on assigned counsel have gone

         13  up. At least in the court I practice in and the

         14  courts that I practice in the Bronx, there are

         15  plethora of attorneys to handle any civil matter,

         16  domestic violence or is given lot of priority and

         17  wisely so entirely because of the nature of the

         18  situation, the danger that's involved and the danger

         19  that the victim that may be in and Judges make every

         20  attempt to prosecute the matters quickly. I don't

         21  see any reason why opening up the doors to a

         22  population that is traditionally been underserved,

         23  those who are not in relationships which were

         24  recognized before would really alter all of those

         25  priorities and all the work that's done.
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          2                 Legal Services and specifically

          3  myself, sit on a number of committees with the

          4  courts that work within the court system. I know

          5  some of my other colleagues today might speak about

          6  that issue and domestic violence is given a great

          7  deal of weight and time and consideration. I don't

          8  think that there is any reason that the court system

          9  couldn't absorb a series of new cases anymore so

         10  than if the law were changed in any other way.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We've been joined

         12  by Council Member Miguel Martinez from Manhattan.

         13  I'm going to ask one last question. It's kind of a

         14  devil's advocate question. I ask it because I am

         15  puzzled at the Administration's unwillingness to

         16  support up in Albany through their legislative

         17  office the pending legislation. I can't fathom why

         18  the Bloomberg Administration will not support these

         19  bills and they have declined to come here to testify

         20  today. Is there any concern that allowing people to

         21  make their own decisions as to whether or not to

         22  petition for an order of protection that these

         23  people might use the Family Court process as a club

         24  for some other purpose, for some other reasons?

         25  Could that possibly become a burden to the system,
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          2  skew the playing field in some way that I'm not

          3  seeing?

          4                 MR. HALPER: Certainly. With any law,

          5  there is the opportunity for abuse. There is the

          6  opportunity for a particular wrinkle to be taken

          7  advantage of. In Civil Court, that's as true as in

          8  any other court whether it be the Family Court or

          9  the Second Circuit Court of Appeals. It's entirely

         10  possible that there may be abuses here. I can think

         11  of quite a number of scenarios that certainly in

         12  preparing for today's testimony gave me pause for

         13  thought.

         14                 The law as it is written right now

         15  appears to me to be over broad. It needs some

         16  definition of language. And taking a tour of the

         17  other 35 or 37 states that have adopted intimate

         18  partner laws similar to the one being proposed in

         19  the Senate and the Assembly, I've noted of several

         20  jurisdictions, not the least of which Connecticut

         21  and some other states, that adopted a paragraph

         22  noting what exactly an intimate is. Is it someone

         23  that you meet in a bar, you ask out for date. You

         24  have one date. Maybe someone calls for three or four

         25  times asking for a second date. It's rejected. Is
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          2  that stalking in the fourth degree under the Family

          3  Court Act under the Criminal Penal Code? Yes, it's

          4  entirely possible that there may be abuses. But I

          5  think such abuses will be the exception rather than

          6  the norm. That's entirely because I don't think

          7  especially noting your testimony just a few moments

          8  ago, Councilman, that anyone is dying to get into

          9  Family Court just for fun.

         10                 It is not a place that anyone would

         11  want to be unless they absolutely had to be or if

         12  they had chosen to work there because they enjoy the

         13  work. Under those circumstances, I think, whether it

         14  happens in the statutory phase of the adoption of

         15  the law noting some factors such as the length of

         16  the relationship; the nature of the contact; whether

         17  or not they were living together which is somewhat

         18  noted in the current draft of the law. How many

         19  dates they've had? And maybe defining some of the

         20  language that is already in there such as ordinary

         21  fraternization and again living together. What

         22  happens if someone is living together for three days

         23  out of the week? Are they not living together in the

         24  eyes of this law? It's something for our courts

         25  certainly to handle and something which I believe
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          2  certainly the New York City Courts and indeed the

          3  Family Court are up to the challenge.

          4                 I think that what you can be rest

          5  assured of is that the Judges in the Family Court

          6  are very good. Just like any other matter in Family

          7  Court and certainly not the least of which are

          8  matters of domestic violence, judges have an eye

          9  towards being able to weed out what's credible and

         10  what's not and where situation may be in danger.

         11  Excuse me, where someone may be in danger and a

         12  situation where it's not. It will proceed just like

         13  any other civil matter with under the same crucible

         14  with the same protections of due process and direct

         15  and cross- examination and I believe that if the

         16  only disqualification up to this point is that

         17  someone is not married and they don't have a child

         18  in common and they're not related, that population

         19  is being truly underserved. And such considerations

         20  for abuse can be certainly rectified simply by the

         21  practical application of the law and appropriate

         22  interpretation in the right courts.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I can tell you,

         24  Mr. Halper, that not only do I hate going to Family

         25  Court, but I especially hate going to it in the
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          2  Bronx. So my heart goes out to you. Anyone who has

          3  been there knows what I'm talking about. We've been

          4  joined by Councilman Dennis Gallagher from Queens.

          5  Any my colleagues from Youth Services, Councilman

          6  Seabrook.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

          8  very much, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Halper, just a concern

          9  as it relates to a little bit of the Bronx because

         10  that county has one of the highest concentration of

         11  people of color. In fact, most only predominantly

         12  borough that's people of color. You raised the issue

         13  about these communities of color and their response

         14  and they feel they won't give up any of these

         15  individuals because of police involvement in their

         16  lives and injustice of the system. But we had a

         17  hearing a while back that talked about the

         18  Department of Education and others creating a

         19  curriculum and the City having a Task Force to deal

         20  with this issue because the number of domestic

         21  violence cases in the Bronx and in the Latino

         22  community in particular is astounding. What can the

         23  City do in reference to helping youth to giving a

         24  successful way of dealing with educating them about

         25  orders of protection and the successful use of order
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          2  of protection. Because if that idea of not

          3  responding on the basis of historical problems with

          4  the police, these are people who are going to be

          5  killed and abused. What should the City be doing?

          6  What should we be doing to deal with this issue in

          7  communities of color?

          8                 MR. HALPER: Councilman, that's a

          9  complicated question. I am not an expert in policy,

         10  but I will tell that from having worked in this

         11  community for a long time, I think that any effort

         12  and I certainly applaud that the efforts of the

         13  Council has made so far in this direction, not the

         14  least of which is the resolution before us, 589, has

         15  to be multi- pronged and multi- faceted. Even in the

         16  time that I've been working in the Bronx, which has

         17  been for the last five years and I was doing

         18  domestic violence work previously before that at

         19  other organizations, I have seen a lot of change.

         20  Both in the judicial response, in law enforcement,

         21  in the way advocates handle the matter and it

         22  ultimately all does trickle down to the community

         23  itself. People through experience learn what the law

         24  is. Although, they may not be students of it, I have

         25  been astounded both in the community that I work in
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          2  and I practice in just about every borough in the

          3  City, how my clients are often very well aware of

          4  what the law is. Especially when its connected to

          5  things that are so daily present in their lives.

          6  Unfortunately, in the Bronx, violence is one of

          7  those things that's very much present in their

          8  lives.

          9                 I would note certainly that I have

         10  had a lot of success working with police precincts;

         11  going to schools and speaking about domestic

         12  violence matters. Education will be a valuable part

         13  of whatever this resolution and whatever this law

         14  ultimately is. People like myself, people like

         15  others of my colleagues sitting here today, it will

         16  very much be upon us not only to litigate this law,

         17  interpret it, and use it in a wise manner on behalf

         18  of our clients. But also to educate those clients so

         19  that maybe they don't have to go to Family Court. Or

         20  maybe they won't have to have a difficult in a

         21  troubling situation in Criminal Court.

         22                 It's one of those things that I think

         23  is difficult to comment on because I don't know what

         24  exactly the City can do on an institutional level in

         25  order to enforce it. If the resolution here today is
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          2  really about a change in the law, I think it's very

          3  much up to the lawyers and the judges to do what

          4  they have been doing for many, many years in terms

          5  of dealing with domestic violence as an issue and

          6  not just as a matter that comes before it in court.

          7  I would certainly support and encourage the Council

          8  to consider any and all manner of support in this

          9  area, not the least of which would be education and

         10  helping all City employees to understand and

         11  disseminate the law appropriately.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         13  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Anybody else?

         15  Miguel, Dennis? No. Thank you very much.

         16                 MR. HALPER: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We've also been

         18  joined by Councilman Felder from Brooklyn. Our next

         19  witness is Stephanie Nilva from Break the Cycle.

         20  Break the Cycle was very important part of our

         21  February hearing in terms of highlighting this

         22  problem. And we welcome Break the Cycle back. Thank

         23  you.

         24                 MS. NILVA: Good morning. Thank you,

         25  Councilman Fidler and I also want to thank the
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          2  Committee on Women's Issues and the Committee on

          3  Youth Services for holding both the committee

          4  hearing in February and this hearing today and for

          5  introducing Resolution 589 which can really make a

          6  big impact on improving situation for young people

          7  in dating relationships in New York City.

          8                 My name is Stephanie Nilva and I'm

          9  the Director of Break the Cycle's New York Office.

         10  Break the Cycle is the only organization in the City

         11  that focuses specifically on preventing dating abuse

         12  and domestic violence among young people. We work to

         13  prevent domestic violence and dating abuse by

         14  introducing a preventive law- base curriculum in

         15  schools and youth programs throughout New York City.

         16  That curriculum is introduced to youth and it also

         17  trains professionals who work with youth. The

         18  curriculum identifies issues around domestic

         19  violence including warning signs of abuse, obstacles

         20  to leaving relationships, safety planning. It also

         21  explains the civil and the criminal systems that so

         22  young people understand the relief that is available

         23  to them and understand how to use the legal system

         24  if their circumstances demand it.

         25                 Furthermore, Break the Cycle provides
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          2  direct legal services to young people between 12 and

          3  22 and that might mean representation in the Family

          4  Court or advocacy in a criminal setting in addition

          5  to accessing additional benefits. Currently, one in

          6  three young people, teenagers are affected by abuse

          7  in an intimate relationship. The statistics show

          8  that young victims of abuse are equally in need of

          9  the court's protection as adults are. However, the

         10  criminal system is not the solution and that's the

         11  only place where young people in dating

         12  relationships can currently access relief.

         13  Currently, up to 50 percent of individuals who are

         14  experiencing abuse are not able to access orders of

         15  protection under the current situation in New York.

         16                 More than adults, young victims are

         17  very suspicious of authority figures. The police act

         18  as the point of entry into the criminal court system

         19  and teenagers, especially teenagers in poor

         20  communities and communities of color, do not look at

         21  the police as a source of help. The primary goal of

         22  young people who do into the system is to access

         23  protection, not to punish their abuser. However,

         24  punishment is the principal purpose of the Criminal

         25  Courts.
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          2                 Young people fear the retaliation

          3  that might affect them if they access help from the

          4  police or go through the Criminal Court system. They

          5  also may not want their boyfriend who could be a

          6  high school classmate to have a criminal record. If

          7  they overcome the barrier of police involvement and

          8  enter the Criminal Court system, they face a

          9  situation in which they have no representation by an

         10  attorney as they would in Family Court. They act as

         11  witnesses in the cases brought by District

         12  Attorneys. They are not parties to the case which

         13  means they don't have control over whether the case

         14  goes forward or whether the case is dropped. And

         15  control is a very important issue for victims of

         16  abuse of any age.

         17                 Most importantly, in order to access

         18  an order of protection, young people face a much

         19  higher standard of proof that are beyond a

         20  reasonable doubt as compared to the preponderance of

         21  the evidence standard that applies in Family Court.

         22  This makes it substantially more difficult for them

         23  to make their lives safe and access the legal help

         24  that they need. The current situation communicates

         25  to the public that some victims of abuse are less
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          2  equal than others. Individuals in dating

          3  relationships are no less likely to experience

          4  physical harm or be killed by their abuser than

          5  anyone who is either married or has a child in

          6  common with their abuser. They deserve the same

          7  protection.

          8                 The burden on Family Court should not

          9  be an impediment to passing this legislation at the

         10  State level. Currently, over 50 percent of the cases

         11  heard by the Family Court are related to child

         12  support. The Family Courts also hear cases related

         13  to abuse and neglect, spousal support, visitation,

         14  and custody. Domestic violence cases are currently a

         15  very small proportion of their docket. Additionally,

         16  that increase in the Family Court numbers would be

         17  very gradual. It would be slow and it would be

         18  balanced by a decrease in the demand on the police

         19  and the Criminal Court system.

         20                 In addition, the priority even if

         21  there is a burden on the Family Court, is that the

         22  individuals in dating relationships access safety

         23  and the legal protection that they need so their

         24  lives are no longer in danger and that is a far more

         25  important issue to be focused on than an increase in
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          2  burden on the Family Court which can be balanced

          3  with the decreased burden on the Criminal Court.

          4  Every day the courts make decisions that identify

          5  and characterize the legal relationships between

          6  individuals. Thirty- four states and the District of

          7  Columbia, have managed to pass statutes that define

          8  dating relationships and allow access to civil

          9  orders of  protection.

         10                 We join the City Council currently in

         11  requesting that New York State legislature do so as

         12  well. And we thank you for your support.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you. You

         14  heard the question that Councilman Seabrook asked

         15  Mr. Halper and I suggested to the Councilman that

         16  you might have a better feel for an answer to that

         17  question on what we can be doing. Would you like to

         18  take that on?

         19                 MS. NILVA: Absolutely. I do think

         20  that educating young people or educating all people

         21  whether its through a public service campaign, but

         22  also educating young people is a critical element to

         23  protecting people in preventing the cycle of

         24  violence that is affecting generations of youth

         25  particularly in communities of color.
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          2                 What Break the Cycle does is speak

          3  directly to young people in ninth and tenth grade

          4  classes, in foster care facilities, detention

          5  facilities, after school programs and talk to them

          6  about identifying relationships that could become

          7  abusive, identifying controlling behaviors. And by

          8  introducing this sort of thing at a young age to

          9  youth who may be experiencing negative messages

         10  either at home or in the media about what a healthy

         11  relationship consist of, we have the potential to

         12  have them put a stop to a relationship of their own

         13  that might become abusive; to identify abusive

         14  relationships among their friends and family, and

         15  hopefully to make their lives safe into the future.

         16  So I really think that early education can make an

         17  enormous difference in eliminating all the burden

         18  that could hit the Family Courts because you're

         19  going to help people avoid the violent relationships

         20  to begin with.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We've been joined

         22  by Council Member Barron from the Women's Issues

         23  Committee. Councilman Martinez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair. I just want to follow- up on your
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          2  comment. Before I got elected to represent the 10th

          3  councilmanic district in Northern Manhattan,

          4  Washington Heights, I use to direct a early

          5  childhood domestic violence intervention program

          6  with what used to be called Victims Services, now

          7  Safe Horizon. I found that there was a lack of

          8  services and resources for early intervention

          9  especially for children who witness a domestic

         10  violence episode at a young age or at their home.

         11  Many of the programs such as daycare services, early

         12  Head Start Program, even the public schools through

         13  the PTA and so forth were eager to have this

         14  services or this kind of workshop program come to

         15  their facilities. Looking at when we speak about the

         16  violence with our youth, teenagers, and so forth,

         17  what do you find we need to do. Not at the age where

         18  the violence is already occurring, but at the early

         19  age to serve as intervention. What do you think

         20  needs to happen so that we could follow what you're

         21  saying in terms of breaking the cycle, getting to

         22  them early? If we don't get to the kids at an early

         23  age that witness the violence and are subject to

         24  this on a daily basis, it's a little too late as

         25  teenage already they are part of the cycle and part
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          2  of the violence.

          3                 MS. NILVA: Right. I think that there

          4  are many, many things that can be done. Some of the

          5  things that Break the Cycle is working on are

          6  working with the Department of Education about

          7  establishing a dating abuse and domestic violence

          8  policy which they currently do not have. We want

          9  them to set specific guidelines for how to handle

         10  orders of protection in the school system. We do

         11  trainings of group of assistance principals,

         12  guidance counselors and so on and what we're hearing

         13  is that they are really strapped by a situation in

         14  which they might be very aware of dating abuse

         15  situations going on their school, but they don't

         16  always have a solution for it. Maybe there is an

         17  order of protection, but all the kids have lunch at

         18  the same time. And you're having a situation in

         19  which the Department of Education policy is running

         20  smack up against a Criminal Court order of

         21  protection, so the school understands that they are

         22  obligated to make sure that junior who is the

         23  abuser, can access calculus class. But they only

         24  have one calculus class and so the victim is also in

         25  that class. They're not permitted to exclude
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          2  somebody from that class. They're not permitted to

          3  say, you can't have lunch at 12:00 in the lunchroom.

          4  In transferring abusers, is a phenomenally difficult

          5  thing for the school system.

          6                 What they can do is offer the victim

          7  an opportunity to be transferred which while it

          8  might increase safety is a situation that is really

          9  revictimizing somebody who has experienced abuse

         10  because the school it's so difficult for them to

         11  exclude an abuser from a school. So we're working

         12  with them around that policy because as I said to a

         13  group of assistant principals just last week, I

         14  really see a situation in which New York City as in

         15  other states around the country could experience an

         16  circumstance in which a 16- year- old is killed in a

         17  school, in a New York City school by an abuser in

         18  her class and then all of a sudden we're faced with

         19  a situation where we're acting in a responsive way

         20  instead of getting ahead of this problem and

         21  identifying policy before that happens. Because

         22  we're not going to have a situation in which that

         23  young person gets killed and the next month we're

         24  saying, oh, yeah, sure they can both have lunch at

         25  the same time in the school lunch room. So I think
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          2  setting policy at that level is important.

          3                 I think curricula addressing dating

          4  abuse in domestic violence is really critical. Break

          5  the Cycle works primarily with youth over 12. I

          6  think that our work is really important and

          7  identifying it from a law based perspective which we

          8  do is really important because it helps the young

          9  people understand the legal systems so they

         10  understand where they can get help and how they can

         11  go about getting that help. It also provides a

         12  framework in which they understand that their

         13  boyfriend calling them 20 times a day, every day,

         14  and hanging outside their school and their home and

         15  so on, is actually a violation of the law; is

         16  actually stalking. They don't know those things

         17  right now. At the same time, I think that curricula

         18  introduced younger is also important. I think that

         19  young people much earlier ages need to hear about

         20  self- esteem issues. That girls need to hear about

         21  self- esteem and body image and that boys need to

         22  learn and this is just a stereotype of course, about

         23  how to express themselves with words instead of

         24  aggressively and using their hands. I think that

         25  there are a lot of things that can be done at all
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          2  age levels and a lot of things that can change in

          3  terms of Department of Ed policy and I think that

          4  this resolution and the change in State law is a

          5  really critically element as well.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Have you

          7  heard of any or has there been any documented

          8  lawsuit by the victims when they have notified the

          9  adult in the school and yet things that you

         10  mentioned were not done?

         11                 MS. NILVA: I have not. However, when

         12  I talk to these groups in schools, I mention a case

         13  that I have heard of which was a bullying case that

         14  somebody might have heard of. It happened with a

         15  much younger child, I can't remember maybe fourth or

         16  fifth grade. But it was a bullying case in which the

         17  parents had brought the issue to the school's

         18  attention repeatedly and nothing was done. There was

         19  a liability award against the Department of

         20  Education. I absolutely see that coming down the

         21  road for the Department of Ed in terms of dating

         22  abuse situation. Because just because it hasn't

         23  happened, just because a young person hasn't yet

         24  been killed in our school system doesn't mean we're

         25  not at risk of that right now.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So basically

          3  the adults, in this case the assistant principal,

          4  the principal, guidance counselors, teachers and so

          5  forth, even though they are advised or a child may

          6  report that there are victims of abuse or a parent

          7  may report to the school, they don't take the steps

          8  needed to separate the two, both victim and the

          9  abuser.

         10                 MS. NILVA: I'm not saying that the

         11  schools aren't doing their best. I'm saying they're

         12  doing their best within a system that doesn't really

         13  help them. They are very much in a corner. I really

         14  sat and watched an exchange between assistant

         15  principals and a regional department head saying,

         16  the assistant principal saying, well what am I

         17  suppose to do in this case where I got these two

         18  kids in the same classroom and the regional head

         19  saying, you need to make sure that they have access

         20  to those courses, to their lunch period and so on.

         21  They are really caught in a bind in which they don't

         22  necessarily have the solutions afforded to them.

         23                 I also think, but you're touching on

         24  something in which an issue of abuse is raised, but

         25  it's not necessarily a court order. They haven't
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          2  necessarily gone through the criminal system and

          3  gotten a court order. In that case, I think the

          4  school is more able to not necessarily respond in

          5  the right way.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: But the

          7  school is responsible for the well- being and safety

          8  of the children while they're in the school

          9  building. You don't need a court order to do that.

         10  I'm trying to get at if I report to an assistant

         11  principal that my republican colleague is abusing

         12  me, isn't the responsibility of the teacher, the

         13  assistant principal, whomever it is, to see that my

         14  well- being and to separate me or get me away while

         15  in the school building from harm's way?

         16                 MS. NILVA: Yes. But there are only a

         17  limited number of things they can do particularly in

         18  a smaller school. Like I said, if it's a smaller

         19  school and they only have one calculus class for

         20  tenth graders, they don't have a solution to that

         21  problem of keeping those people out of the same

         22  room. If there is only one lunch period, they don't

         23  have a solution to that. They can do things like say

         24  to you as the victimized party, well you can go have

         25  lunch in the guidance counselor's office You can
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          2  study in another room. Again, that is really

          3  revictimizing somebody who has experienced abuse.

          4  And they are very, very strapped in terms of

          5  transferring students. Transferring an abuser is an

          6  phenomenally difficult undertaking for schools.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

          8  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I just want to

         10  follow- up in that briefly because it was eight

         11  months ago you were sitting in this room and we were

         12  talking about this exact issue and you were pressing

         13  DOE to develop a curricula or policy. Has anything

         14  changed in those eight months?

         15                 MS. NILVA: Well, we have heard

         16  discussion of this panel at the Department of Ed

         17  that is going to be looking at devising a curricula

         18  that will address dating abuse and domestic

         19  violence. We've been told by the Department of Ed

         20  that we will be part of the panel. That's as much as

         21  I know so far on that issue. We have had meetings

         22  with the Department of Ed on working towards

         23  developing a policy on dating abuse and domestic

         24  violence and we've been collecting different

         25  policies from other jurisdictions around the country
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          2  that do have them in order to provide guidance to

          3  the Department of Ed.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: How many other

          5  jurisdictions have a policy?

          6                 MS. NILVA: I don't know. But several

          7  do. I mean I know that, for instance, in

          8  Massachusetts, Domestic Violence Education is

          9  mandatory throughout the school system.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Other than having

         11  heard that they may have a panel that you may be

         12  included in, absolutely nothing is changed since the

         13  eight months have passed since we were last here

         14  discussing this issue asking the Administration to

         15  do something about this.

         16                 MS. NILVA: There has been no change

         17  in policy at the Department of Ed and no concrete

         18  development or steps in the direction of developing

         19  a curriculum.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I would just want

         21  to point out that while the Administration didn't

         22  see fit to testify here today, I know they are

         23  represented well in this room. And I think its time

         24  that someone over in Tweed got off their behind on

         25  this subject. It should be as obvious to them as it
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          2  is to everyone who is sitting in this room that this

          3  problem waiting to happen. And certainly a lawsuit

          4  that's waiting to occur. For god sakes, it's been a

          5  law and order episode already. If it can make prime

          6  time TV, I don't know why it would have escaped the

          7  attention of the folks at Tweed and I think that

          8  they really ought to respond to it. We don't move

          9  all that quickly here on our side of the building

         10  either, but this our second hearing on the subject

         11  and they can't so much as put together a panel

         12  together and I think that's shameful. Does anyone

         13  else have any questions? Councilman Seabrook.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Just a

         15  follow- up question to the whole idea of educating

         16  the young people. But I think one of the concerns

         17  that I have is that, have we instituted not the

         18  curriculum, but the training of educators on dealing

         19  with this abuse that comes to them and how do they

         20  deal with it? Because that's a real concern in the

         21  schools because they can treat it as something else

         22  and never look at it as abuse and if they aren't

         23  trained to do that, then we got a serious problem.

         24  Has there been any, I guess, discussion or

         25  implementation of a training policy or manual for
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          2  those who are responsible for dealing with this

          3  issue in the public school system?

          4                 MS. NILVA: Not that I'm aware of. I

          5  think your identifying a real danger in mixing up

          6  the issues of bullying, sexual harassment, and

          7  dating abuses. They are all very different issues.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Right.

          9                 MS. NILVA: And while the school

         10  system has responded to some of those issues, it

         11  doesn't necessarily cover the other ones. That's a

         12  real problem. Break the Cycle has gone and trained

         13  as I said, assistant principals and groups of

         14  guidance counselors, but really on an ad hac basis.

         15  We haven't been invited in. We've made our services

         16  available to people and they've said absolutely, we

         17  really need that. And I can tell you that in my

         18  experience in going to different regions, we seem to

         19  kind of prompt a discussion in the room of -- there

         20  seems to be a lot of confusion among school

         21  administrators about how to handle these problems.

         22  They have a lot of questions. So my impression is to

         23  the extent that they're being trained on the issue

         24  at all -- my impression is that they haven't yet

         25  been trained because these appear to be issues that
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          2  they haven't addressed before. While they do receive

          3  training, for instance, in issues around child abuse

          4  so they can identify young people who may be exposed

          5  to abuse or being abused by an adult, this is a very

          6  separate issue and there is no requirement that they

          7  receive training of this kind.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Just one

          9  other question as it relates to this breaking the

         10  cycle that you're talking about. How do you address

         11  the issue when it's romanticized every day in the

         12  music of young people that this is the norm? This is

         13  the values. This is what takes place and this whole

         14  abuse is a part of. How do address that? I know it's

         15  hard because you don't have the money to do it.

         16                 MS. NILVA: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: But these

         18  are the same kids in the school who are actually

         19  listening to this everyday on their CD or whatever

         20  they have.

         21                 MS. NILVA: It's not easy. But what we

         22  can do is call some of these issues into question

         23  among people. Have them discuss it; have them hear

         24  from one another about different experiences they

         25  might have had. Really question them about why they

                                                            49

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  find this music interesting or amusing and what

          3  about these issues if this were their sister or

          4  would they want this to happen in those ways. And do

          5  they really believe those things and really call

          6  into question the issues around gender roles and

          7  things like that that I think young people do

          8  experience a lot of negative messages these days.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         10  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Does anyone else

         12  have any questions for this witness? Councilman

         13  Barron.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Good morning.

         15                 MS. NILVA: Good morning.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You know the

         17  Resolution 589 basically speaks to allowing the

         18  abuser to go to Family Court and where there is a

         19  preponderance of evidence as opposed to reasonable

         20  doubt in the State Supreme Court. But often times

         21  victims of abuse say that even if you got the

         22  protection that it doesn't really protect them. So

         23  what can happen to make this more effective so that

         24  when you get an order of protection, sometimes its

         25  even worse, and once they know that it's out there,
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          2  you get even more abused and you often have the

          3  police will say, well we can't do anything right now

          4  until the person does something more to you or

          5  something like that. What could go with this

          6  corresponding things that could happen to make it

          7  more effective?

          8                 MS. NILVA: Well, I have seen more one

          9  than study that indicate in over 80 percent of cases

         10  where someone has obtained an order of protection or

         11  sought legal protection, the incident of abuse does

         12  decrease. So they are effective. At the same time,

         13  when we go into schools and we talk to young people

         14  and we talk to professionals that work with youth,

         15  we do not say that the order of protection is the

         16  solution to all problems. We explain it's a piece of

         17  paper. We explain the contents of it; what it can

         18  do, what it can't do and what the worst case

         19  scenario is. The curriculum also includes

         20  information about safety planning because if someone

         21  chooses not to get an order of protection or even if

         22  they have one, we want to make certain that they

         23  understand issues around keeping themselves safe

         24  despite that piece of paper and also around

         25  enforcement of the order. We explain what violations
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          2  are. We explain what the process is around pursing

          3  additional legal help if there has been a violation.

          4                 I think a combination of education

          5  and tighter legal protection and educating people

          6  about enforcement can make a real difference. But

          7  statistically, orders of Protection do make a

          8  substantial difference in reducing abuse. But

          9  they're not a bullet proof vest. They're not going

         10  to be effective in 100 percent of circumstances.

         11  That's never going to be the case. All we can is

         12  really educate law enforcement, educate young people

         13  about how to enforce their orders if they have them.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Council Member

         17  Felder.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Good morning.

         19  I apologize if I ask something that was mentioned

         20  before I came late, so stop me. I'm just curious

         21  about the process and I don't know maybe Mr. Halper

         22  can help out as well. My understanding is that

         23  Family Court is in bad shape to say the least. The

         24  lines sometimes if you pass by Adams Street in front

         25  of Family Court in Brooklyn, there are vendors
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          2  selling everything under the sun and doing very well

          3  because there are so many people waiting outside

          4  just to really take care of business. It's sad. It's

          5  tragic. I agree with almost everything that was

          6  said. But the question is, how is this going to work

          7  if Family Court can't handle what they're suppose to

          8  be doing now which is critical. Even though this is

          9  a great idea, dumping more stuff there unless there

         10  is going to be more resources added to the Family

         11  Court by the State, I don't see how its going to

         12  work. I think we'll feel good doing the resolution,

         13  but how is it actually going to be able to work

         14  effectively?

         15                 MS. NILVA: I think that's a really

         16  important question and I've been working in the

         17  Family Court system in New York for ten years, so I

         18  am very aware of the burdens of the Family Court, of

         19  the lines outside the building, et cetera. I think

         20  the lines are sometimes related to getting through

         21  the metal detectors and so on and increases in

         22  security. That's not to say that Family Court is not

         23  overburdened, because it is.

         24                 Nonetheless, as I mentioned earlier,

         25  the domestic violence docket is not by any stretch
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          2  of the imagination even half of the cases that are

          3  experienced in Family Court. I think that the

          4  increase as people became aware of relief that could

          5  be available in Family Court, the increase would be

          6  gradual. And I think that the Family Court would be

          7  in a position to request additional resources. And

          8  as Judges are filtered out in different directions

          9  to different court systems, as I said, I think it

         10  would reduce the amount of burden on Criminal Court

         11  and it could potentially free up resources to

         12  increase the Judges that could work in Family Court

         13  to handle any additional burden.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. Halper, do

         15  you want to return to the -- I think you kind of did

         16  answer it before, but I think Councilman is entitled

         17  to a response.

         18                 MR. HALPER: Well, I think I've been

         19  trained just like my colleague that when ask a

         20  direct question, it's almost impossible for me not

         21  to answer. But under those circumstances, I would

         22  certainly join my colleague's statements in stating

         23  that I don't believe that opening up the court in

         24  this manner by changing the law would suddenly

         25  result in a massive influx of these cases. It's
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          2  exactly for the reason that you noted, Councilman,

          3  that people aren't exactly running into Family Court

          4  Certainly, I would draw my colleague's statements in

          5  noting that the order of protection or excuse me,

          6  the Article 8 docket does not represent an overly

          7  large portion of the docket to begin with.

          8                 Under those circumstances, I think

          9  that noting everything that's just been said

         10  actually, that it's going to take a while for this

         11  seep in. Education is a process that goes on in the

         12  schools, it goes in the courts, it goes in

         13  hospitals, police precincts, social work, and mental

         14  health agencies. It's not something that simply

         15  happens over night. The Family Court has, I think, a

         16  demonstrated history of effectiveness in dealing

         17  with these issues and under those circumstances, I

         18  think it easily absorb what's a long over due part

         19  of the legislation. Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Is it okay if

         21  I request from the Chair that the possibility of

         22  adding some language to the resolution stating that

         23  as the need arises -- if we're doing a resolution,

         24  we should ask that the State allocate enough

         25  resources to handle the increases as they go up.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: The resolution

          3  asks the State not to pass any specific bill.

          4  Although, the whereas clause refer to the current

          5  legislation pending in both the Assembly and the

          6  Senate. I would always hope that we could get

          7  sufficient resources. But the resolution is going to

          8  be voted on by Youth Services today. So any

          9  amendment to it would have had to been submitted in

         10  writing. I'm sorry. Does anyone else have any

         11  questions for Ms. Nilva? As soon as Council Member

         12  Gallagher returns, we're going to find him, we're

         13  going to have the votes. So we should have it very

         14  shortly even though we have some more witnesses.

         15  Thank you, Ms. Nilva. Our next witness pending the

         16  return of Council Member Gallagher is Vivian Huelgo

         17  from Safe Horizon.

         18                 MS. HUELGO: Good morning. Thank you

         19  on behalf of Safe Horizon to the members of the

         20  Committee on Youth Services and the members of the

         21  Committee on Women's Issues, particularly

         22  Chairperson Fidler for inviting us to testify today

         23  on Resolution 589, and for providing an ongoing

         24  forum for this very important issue of domestic

         25  violence.
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          2                 My name is Vivian Huelgo and I'm the

          3  Director of Legal Services at Safe Horizon and also

          4  oversee in that role our Domestic Violence Law

          5  Project. Safe Horizon is the nation's leading and

          6  largest crime victims assistance organization. Every

          7  year, we assist over 350,000 New Yorkers through

          8  more than 80 programs throughout this City. Council,

          9  the great majority of our clients are persons of

         10  color, are women. They are poor for the most part

         11  and predominately victims of domestic violence.

         12                 Last year alone, our Domestic

         13  Violence Law Project in addition to our Family Court

         14  programs and our Criminal Court programs assisted

         15  over 52,000 clients in navigating those court

         16  systems. Of the services we render, perhaps the most

         17  important is to assist our clients in obtaining

         18  orders of protection. Orders of protection can be

         19  critically valuable tools for victims of domestic

         20  violence. For instance, a victim of domestic

         21  violence who secures an order of protection is

         22  entitled to seek immediate police protection to

         23  prevent additional harassment or violence because a

         24  perpetrator who violates an order of protection is

         25  subject to mandatory arrest. Additionally, obtaining
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          2  an order of protection is the requisite first step

          3  in accessing safe housing in public housing for a

          4  victim of domestic violence. A domestic violence

          5  victim must obtain an order of protection to be

          6  eligible for New York City Housing Authority's

          7  priority acceptance category and emergency transfer

          8  program.

          9                 Orders of protection are not as we've

         10  discussed this morning readily available for all

         11  victims of relationship violence, dating violence,

         12  and domestic violence. As things now stand, the

         13  Family Court is closed to unmarried partners without

         14  children which would include teenagers involved in

         15  dating relationships. The alternative, which is

         16  seeking relief in Criminal Court, is no easy matter.

         17                 As you have recognized and as I can

         18  verify as a former prosecutor in the New York County

         19  District Attorney's office, the difficulty of having

         20  an abuser arrested and the fear and stigma

         21  associated with initiating a criminal proceeding,

         22  not to mention the much higher burden of proof

         23  required to obtain an order of protection in a

         24  criminal court, discourages domestic violence

         25  victims, both adults and youths, who cannot access
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          2  New York State Family Court from seeking orders of

          3  protection. Again, this is particularly true for

          4  young victims who are involved in dating

          5  relationships. The prospect of pressing charges and

          6  dealing with law enforcement with the police, it's

          7  simply beyond their capabilities. It's a very

          8  intimidating situation.

          9                 We're going through a time when we

         10  are coming to appreciate that family has many

         11  meanings and can take many different forms. In this

         12  City, where housing is always in short supply, where

         13  the words rent control or rent stabilized might mean

         14  the difference between being able to pay the rent or

         15  not pay the rent. We've come to understand that the

         16  traditional definitions will not serve and may

         17  actually frustrate justice. Thus, we now recognize

         18  that unmarried, unrelated partners, can indeed

         19  constitute a family. A domestic situation with all

         20  the rights of succession that once accrued only to

         21  married couples.

         22                 Safe Horizon believes that it is a

         23  time for a similar change in how we think about

         24  access to Family Court. For example, the New York

         25  Police Department has changed its codes to include
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          2  an expanded definition of family. The current limits

          3  to accessing Family Court discriminate against

          4  domestic violence victims who do not have that

          5  marital link or biological link to their abuser.

          6  These are formal barriers that were established by

          7  us and can now be undone by us. They may have made

          8  sense at some point in the past, but they certainly

          9  don't make sense today. The most rudimentary

         10  principle of fairness dictates that like cases

         11  should be treated alike and that all victims of

         12  domestic violence regardless of their connection to

         13  their abuser should be able to readily invoke the

         14  protections of the law, the same protections.

         15  Expanding access to civil orders of protection will

         16  provide all victims of domestic violence with a

         17  vital tool to help them find safety and to help our

         18  communities hold batterers accountable. Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you. Before

         20  I ask any of my colleagues if they have questions,

         21  Reso 589 has been transferred to the Youth Services

         22  Committee for a vote this morning because of the

         23  inadvertent circumstances involving most of the

         24  small membership of the Women's Issues Committee.

         25  While we have a quorum available to vote on it, I'm
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          2  going ask and call for a vote in favor of Resolution

          3  589.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Martinez.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Mr.

         10  Chairman, let me explain my vote. I'd like to be put

         11  on this Resolution as well and I endorse it

         12  wholeheartedly. My vote is yes.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I also would

         15  like to be added as a sponsor for this bill. I'm

         16  voting yes. And I just want to mention the wonderful

         17  work that Safe Horizon does throughout the City.

         18  I've encountered your work many times on other

         19  issues. So we appreciate you coming down to testify.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

         21  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         22  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         23  please sign the Committee Report and the roll will

         24  be held open by request of the Chair. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you. Does
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          2  anyone have any questions for Ms. Huelgo? Thank you

          3  very much. I to want to add my accommodation to Safe

          4  Horizon for the great work that they do.

          5                 MS. HUELGO: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Our next witness

          7  is Christa Stewart from The Door. Is there anyone in

          8  the audience who has not signed up to testify would

          9  like to testify, please fill out a form now. I see

         10  we have Councilman Gallagher. Would you like vote on

         11  Reso 589?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I vote aye.

         13                 MS. STEWART: Good morning. Can you

         14  hear me? My name is Christa Stewart. I'm the

         15  Director of Legal Services at The Door. Thank you

         16  for allowing me to testify on this important

         17  measure.

         18                 You may know, but The Door was

         19  founded in 1972, primarily as a youth advocacy

         20  organization. Our mission is really to have youth

         21  achieve their potential by providing comprehensive

         22  and integrated youth services. We serve primarily

         23  youth ages 12 to 21. Last year alone, we served over

         24  7,500 low- income young people. Most of them are

         25  referred by their peers which does enable us to work
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          2  with them in a safe setting. Critical to our model

          3  is really this integrated services. So we do see

          4  kids that come in for mental heath counseling, for

          5  medical needs, for legal services and that's from

          6  the advantage point of which I speak on this.

          7                 Our Door members are primarily low-

          8  income, they're from single parent homes or live in

          9  foster care or independently. Our recent statistic

         10  show that 43 percent are African America; 31 percent

         11  are Latino; and 11 percent are Asian. One- third are

         12  recent immigrants and are also presenting with those

         13  issues as well. Most Door members attend school with

         14  low graduation rates and live in neighborhoods with

         15  low employment and high rates of violence and crime.

         16                 Unfortunately, many Door members are

         17  survivors of domestic violence or other abuse. And

         18  many are parents with children of their own. In

         19  fact, over 50 percent of the young people that come

         20  to The Door have admitted that they've witnessed or

         21  experienced violence in their relationship. For

         22  young women, of course, much of this abuse is

         23  gender- based. As a result of this, they are at risk

         24  for violent relationships and this is manifested in

         25  legal problems such as domestic violence, child
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          2  support issues and other concerns. This is the

          3  perspective with which we truly support the

          4  resolution that's on the table.

          5                 We commend the City Council for

          6  proposing this measure for a number of reasons. Most

          7  critically, because it really encourages crucial

          8  attention to this matter. But more particularly for

          9  many reasons, especially when you're working with

         10  young people, they are very intimidated by a

         11  criminal court system. Opening up the avenues for

         12  redress is really critical because as a matter of

         13  course, they don't consider that their problem is

         14  necessarily criminal. They also shouldn't be subject

         15  to higher criminal law standards in obtaining

         16  protection from an abuser. The resources that are

         17  allocated can be really better shared by many venues

         18  and a young person should have the options available

         19  to them. An appropriate referrals could be really

         20  comprehensively provided by the New York State

         21  Family Court system.

         22                 Again, I thank you for your attention

         23  to this matter and welcome any questions you might

         24  have.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: You were present
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          2  for some of the discussion with the representative

          3  from Break the Cycle about the lack of a policy or

          4  curriculum in the public schools and since The Door

          5  deals with so many young people, I was wondering

          6  whether or not you had any experience with kids who

          7  are in the New York City public school system and

          8  having difficulty attending class or going to the

          9  same school with their alleged abuser.

         10                 MS. STEWART: Yes, we do see that,

         11  unfortunately quite a bit. And I think that some of

         12  the proposals that were brought up earlier are

         13  really critical to consider. I, myself, was also a

         14  prior employee at Safe Horizon and we had a number

         15  of programs within the school system to train other

         16  youth to work in sort of a peer situation to educate

         17  them about domestic violence which I think is also

         18  critical. But going back to sort of the systems that

         19  are in place that kind of impede these types of

         20  situations to get any better, I think that it is

         21  something that really does need to be looked at much

         22  more comprehensively.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Anyone else have

         24  any questions? Thank you very much. For our last

         25  witness of this hearing, I call Chiquita Williams
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          2  from CONNECT.

          3                 MS. WILLIAMS: Good morning to the

          4  members of the Youth Services Committee and the

          5  Women's Committee. My name is Chiquita Williams and

          6  I work for CONNECT which is in a prevention and

          7  early intervention domestic violence program. I am a

          8  domestic violence --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Could you just

         10  identify your colleague?

         11                 MS. WILLIAMS: This is Calla Aneish

         12  (phonetic). She is the Director of our Community

         13  Empowerment Programs. I work as a domestic violence

         14  educator at CONNECT and I'm also the Coordinator of

         15  the Bronx Youth Network which is the City's only

         16  organized and collaborative that engages young

         17  people as leaders in the fight against domestic

         18  violence.

         19                 On behalf of CONNECT and all our

         20  constituents, I'd like to thank you for giving me

         21  this opportunity to testify in support of Resolution

         22  589. I've been a staunch youth advocate my whole

         23  adult life and my experience has taught me that any

         24  young person can grow into a well adjusted,

         25  productive citizen, when they have the support
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          2  needed to remain safe and healthy. I'm glad that

          3  young people are on the forefront of the Council's

          4  agenda and that you all have made a commitment to

          5  identify and resolve the many issues that interfere

          6  with healthy youth development.

          7                 Advocates working to end domestic

          8  violence, like those of us at CONNECT, have engaged

          9  in concerted outreach to adolescents, aimed at

         10  prevention and very early intervention in order to

         11  disrupt the cycle of violence in their lives. For

         12  example, CONNECT has developed a 26 week girl's

         13  empowerment curriculum that includes a domestic

         14  violence core that looks at issues of legal

         15  protections, safety planning, as well as exploring

         16  some of the issues that are of particular concern to

         17  young women of color.

         18                 If anecdotal evidence can be relied

         19  on as an early indicator of success, these outreach

         20  efforts seem to be working. Young people across the

         21  board are more aware about teen dating violence than

         22  ever before. And individual youth are coming out as

         23  both victims and perpetrators and are seeking out

         24  the legal and social resources available to them. In

         25  fact, nearly all of the City's hotlines, including
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          2  CONNECT's Criminal Justice Helpline, have reported

          3  an increase in calls from adolescents involved in

          4  abusive relationships. The last month alone, CONNECT

          5  has seen an 11 percent increase in calls from

          6  teenagers.

          7                 That's the good news. The bad news is

          8  that there continue to be gaps in services,

          9  especially when teenage victims attempt to access

         10  legal help. The fact that abused teenagers (except

         11  those who have children in common) cannot seek

         12  orders of protection through the Family Courts is

         13  seriously undermining our ability to keep young

         14  people safe and to prevent serious violence and

         15  fatalities. Instead they have to go to the Criminal

         16  Court to petition for an order. As we know, the

         17  Criminal Courts demand such a high burden of proof

         18  that most teenagers would not be able to secure such

         19  an order.

         20                 According to the Youth Empowerment

         21  Activist project in Queens, up to 96 percent of

         22  teenagers say that they have experienced non-

         23  physical violence in a relationship. Many of these

         24  victims are regularly terrorized and humiliated by

         25  their partners, who have on- going access to them at
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          2  school or in their neighborhood. However, most of

          3  the acts committed by the perpetrators are non-

          4  arrestable offenses. If the victims of such offenses

          5  tried to get an order of protection through Criminal

          6  Court, it is likely that they would not even meet

          7  the minimum standards needed to obtain that order.

          8                 What do we say to these young people?

          9  Sorry, but come back to us when your partner has

         10  committed a serious injury against you? Do we really

         11  want to create a climate where young people are

         12  required to suffer serious harm before law

         13  enforcement will intervene? I certainly hope not. We

         14  cannot wait for the cycle of violence to escalate

         15  before a young person can get an order of

         16  protection. We need to intervene early, before

         17  abusers assault, rape, or stalk victims. In

         18  addition, we need to send a very strong message to

         19  teen perpetrators; that we will hold them

         20  accountable when they commit any acts of abuse, to

         21  the fullest extent of the law. They need to know

         22  that abuse, no matter the tactic, is wrong and

         23  totally unacceptable.

         24                 Council Members, I urge you to pass

         25  the resolution and to help bolster our efforts to
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          2  protect young people in New York State. We cannot

          3  set young people up by asking them to come forward

          4  about abuse if we're not fully prepared to offer

          5  strategies for victim safety and batterer

          6  accountability. We have to fulfil our duty to

          7  protect minors in this state. Thank you so much for

          8  your leadership on this critically important issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Do you wish to

         10  add anything? No. Do either of you have any

         11  questions? Councilman Seabrook.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chairman. Just a question as it was stated a

         14  number of these cases of abuse at an astounding high

         15  number in people of color communities. How are you

         16  addressing as it relates to your organization as it

         17  relates to the Board of Education and then a comment

         18  as to what your organization is doing about or

         19  addressing the issue of this in its glorification

         20  through the music and initiation. If you could

         21  comment on that.

         22                 MS. WILLIAMS: Well, through CONNECT

         23  we have community empowerment projects in the Bronx,

         24  Queens, and in Brooklyn and are in districts that

         25  are predominantly communities of color. We are in
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          2  East Flatbush, Flatbush, Jackson Heights, Corona,

          3  East Ulmherst and in the South Bronx and Crown

          4  Heights. We are working with community members to

          5  help to develop grass roots responses to domestic

          6  violence and to create community specific responses

          7  to domestic violence. So the Haitian community can

          8  come together and look at what they might need to do

          9  to educate young people about domestic violence and

         10  provide some appropriate interventions.

         11                 We work with many people in the

         12  Latino community in both the Bronx and in Queens as

         13  well to develop culturally specific interventions.

         14  In terms of working with young people to kind of

         15  look at some of the music that they listen to, et

         16  cetera, as part of our curriculum, we work with

         17  young people to deconstruct some of the cultural

         18  messages that they see in videos. We put together

         19  presentations where we actually watch some of the

         20  music videos and talk about, what does this say

         21  about what it means to be man and what it means to

         22  be a women. We have other videos and materials by

         23  experts such as Paul Kivelle (phonetic), Jackson

         24  Cats, Don McPherson (phonetic), that kind of look at

         25  reframing masculinity in helping young people to be
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          2  non- violent. The issue isn't necessarily just

          3  ending domestic violence or looking at resolution,

          4  we have to educate young people about non- violence

          5  so that they can choose to behave in non- violent

          6  ways.

          7                 Finally, in terms of working with

          8  communities of color, we through our trainings try

          9  to make connections between issues like racism and

         10  sexism and homophobia and domestic violence and help

         11  people understand how the tactics used in those

         12  forms of oppression are very similar to the tactics

         13  used in battering situations or battering dynamics

         14  and that essentially, the dynamics are the same. So

         15  if we want to end racism, if we want to end sexism,

         16  we also have to stand up against domestic violence

         17  again because those tactics are very similar.

         18                 MS. ANEISH: If I might add to what my

         19  colleague said here. We also believe that it's not

         20  enough for this message to just come from the Board

         21  of Education or from a single point. So we are

         22  casting a much wider net in that we are really

         23  working with traditionally organizations that where

         24  domestic violence victims don't necessarily go, but

         25  they go for other services. We're trying to work
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          2  with daycare providers, home health aides, college

          3  professors, faith- based organizations.

          4  Organizations where people go for other services to

          5  fulfill other needs so that these organizations are

          6  also set up very early on to recognize signs of

          7  violence in the family and have this message come

          8  from multiple places in the community.

          9                 MS. WILLIAMS: As was said earlier,

         10  there is only so much that the school system can do

         11  and certainly we want to strengthen the efforts by

         12  the school systems. But young people interface with

         13  many systems like Calla has said before. So there

         14  also needs to be community based education efforts

         15  going on as well to help educate young people about

         16  this issue.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Council Member

         18  Martinez.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair. Can you comment, when you mentioned that

         21  there continues to be a gap in services and you made

         22  reference specifically to access to legal help. Can

         23  you comment on the whole restructuring that the City

         24  had been put forward in terms of the one- stop shop

         25  and the restructuring HRA? I know it's had a
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          2  tremendous impact in my community in terms of

          3  victims going out for services. As you just

          4  mentioned right now, to educate and to help the non-

          5  profits and the different groups that deal with

          6  issues of domestic violence, we can't help them if

          7  they're not getting the resources. That's one. And

          8  two, with the restructuring, we're asking victims to

          9  go out of their communities, go into a different

         10  community and seek service. Just getting out of

         11  their house is a problem to admit that they have a

         12  problem or to seek help. Can you comment on the

         13  impact that's had on teens that are victims of

         14  domestic violence if any?

         15                 MS. WILLIAMS: I think there is still

         16  too many young people who don't know where to go for

         17  legal services. Break the Cycle is certainly an

         18  organization that has started to do outreach to

         19  young people for legal services, Safe Horizon, et

         20  cetera. But certainly there aren't enough services

         21  to go around for young people. Even when young

         22  people go out and they attempt to outreach for help

         23  for domestic violence, not all of the service

         24  providers are necessarily trained in how to work

         25  with young people or the most effective ways to work
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          2  with young people. I'm not sure if I'm necessarily

          3  seen a change since the restructuring with HRA.

          4                 I think there has been much more of a

          5  measure change when groups have gone out to the

          6  places where young people are and done some kind of

          7  educational workshop or some kind of clinic with

          8  young people to give them access to legal help. I

          9  think that a young person is much more likely to

         10  access help if there is someone who can do a clinic

         11  in their school or someone who can do a clinic at a

         12  community based organization that they might be at

         13  like The Door, for example. Then in a case where a

         14  young person would have to go a distance in order to

         15  seek services or at least that's what I'm hearing

         16  from the young people that I'm working with.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: The reason I

         18  asked, Mr. Chairman, since we've had this

         19  restructuring with HRA and the impact and the

         20  incidents of domestic violence that we've seen

         21  recently throughout the City, most recently in my

         22  district where a young woman was stabbed to death.

         23  And speaking to the non- profit, CBO's in my

         24  community and looking at what we do in the Council,

         25  all the time we fight for the little resources, the
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          2  little money in the budget for domestic violence and

          3  looking at the Mayor's office for domestic violence.

          4  What is the connection there? Is there any

          5  communication happening between the Mayor's office

          6  on domestic violence? Is there any communication

          7  among us and how the monies is being spent when we

          8  put the initiative in the money for domestic

          9  violence? Is the service as the young lady

         10  mentioned, I'm sorry, Chiquita Wilson --

         11                 MS. WILLIAMS: Williams.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: -- Williams,

         13  sorry, mentioned. Are we going to the communities

         14  that need it or are we asking the communities that

         15  need it to come to us. I think that there seems to

         16  be a problem there. Especially when we're asking a

         17  victim of domestic violence not only to come out of

         18  that home in which she's being abuse or he's being

         19  abused, but to go to a different community and seek

         20  services, especially a young person. I remember when

         21  I was a teen, I wouldn't go to the other block. I

         22  would stay in my block. Now imagine me being abused

         23  having to go to another community to seek services.

         24  Those are the real questions we need to start asking

         25  in terms of we're delivering services. Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Councilman, I

          4  think your point is extremely well taken and had the

          5  Mayor's office of Domestic Violence on it, I

          6  requested that they attend here this morning, you

          7  could have asked them directly. But unfortunately,

          8  they choose not to. Yes.

          9                 MS. ANEISH: Might I just add one

         10  point to what my colleague just mentioned. One of

         11  the things that came out in our focus groups with

         12  teens in the South Bronx, is the fact that they felt

         13  most of the programs that are currently set up, are

         14  really all staffed by adults. And that they don't

         15  see enough teens in those places. It makes it very

         16  hard for them to not feel targeted when they go in

         17  there. And they feel constantly disfranchised by

         18  being spoken down to. So one of the things that they

         19  strongly recommended is not only having spaces which

         20  are accessible in the places where they go to, but

         21  also to see if they can be included in the decision

         22  making capacity. That needs to happen, I think, for

         23  them to feel empowered.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you both

         25  for your testimony today. I had said you were the
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          2  last witnesses, but we did have one last sign up. I

          3  like to call up Reina Ramos from the Children's Aid

          4  Society Family Wellness Program.

          5                 MS. RAMOS: Good morning, Council. My

          6  name is Reina Ramos and I work for the Children's

          7  Aid Society Family Wellness Program. The Family

          8  Wellness Program is a comprehensive community based

          9  program that provides domestic violence prevention

         10  as well as intervention services. We offer group and

         11  individual counseling and advocacy for survivors of

         12  domestic violence and their children, teen dating,

         13  violence prevention programs, both in the Bronx as

         14  well as our East Harlem community and a batterer's

         15  intervention program for abusive men.

         16                 Perhaps the most critical service we

         17  provide as advocacy for women who are trying

         18  desperately to escape from the grips of an abusive

         19  relationship whether that relationship has lasted

         20  for a few weeks or a few decades. This advocacy

         21  includes assistance with finding shelter,

         22  negotiating the housing system, applying for public

         23  benefits or other financial aid. Working with the

         24  child welfare system and legal advocacy including

         25  assistance with obtaining these orders of
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          2  protection.

          3                 We believe that current laws

          4  requiring a person to be related by blood or

          5  marriage or to have a child in common with her

          6  abuser in order to access the Family Court is

          7  outdated and greatly impedes the ability of a victim

          8  of domestic violence to seek the help she or he

          9  needs in order to end an abusive relationship

         10  safely. The structure of the separate Family Court

         11  was based on a much more traditional concept of the

         12  family. The law probably did not contemplate the

         13  relationship structures that exist today; the

         14  unmarried couples, both heterosexual and same sex,

         15  cohabiting couples and living separately, adults and

         16  adolescents living in intimate dating violent

         17  relationships. Today, so much of the domestic

         18  violence that takes place occurs outside the formal

         19  structures of marriage, but it is no less domestic

         20  violence and it's victims are no less in need of

         21  protection and assistance in ending the cycle of

         22  abuse than victims who have to be married or have a

         23  child in common.

         24                 The Children's Aid Society strongly

         25  supports Resolution 589 because it would provide
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          2  easier access to orders of protection for victims of

          3  domestic violence which would in many cases increase

          4  victim safety and increase access to services they

          5  need in order to get out of these abusive

          6  relationships. As advocates of domestic violence, as

          7  well as domestic violence survivors know, the

          8  barriers to leaving an abusive relationship can in

          9  times be insurmountable. The decision about whether

         10  or not to get an order of protection against one's

         11  husband, partner, or former partner, is one that

         12  most survivors struggle with. The consequences of

         13  the action can at times be worse than the

         14  consequences of remaining in the relationship or

         15  leaving and taking her chances. So most women only

         16  consider this option when they feel desperate and

         17  when they do, it's important that our legal system

         18  do everything it can to minimize the barriers to

         19  obtaining an order of protection and to prevent this

         20  measure from backfiring against the victim.

         21                 Family Court is a much easier access,

         22  much more user friendly than Criminal Court. With

         23  assistance of a clerk, a victim can petition for an

         24  order of protection without an attorney. But this is

         25  much more difficult to do in Criminal Court. Most
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          2  important, a victim does not have to have her

          3  partner arrested in order to get an order of

          4  protection. Jeannea (phonetic) is an 18- year- old

          5  girl in the CAS, Children's Aid Society Foster Care

          6  Program, with a long history of abuse first by her

          7  parents and now by her boyfriend. One of the

          8  controlling tactics her boyfriend uses is to make

          9  her feel responsible for his well- being and feel

         10  guilty whenever she doesn't meet his needs. His

         11  emotionally and physically abusive behavior has

         12  escalated over the last year. Recently, after a very

         13  violent incident, Jeannea finally decided she wanted

         14  to end the relationship. Her boyfriend had

         15  threatened that he would never let her go. But she,

         16  had heard about orders of protection and wanted to

         17  get one. Her advocate described the process to her

         18  and when she heard she would have to make a police

         19  report and get her boyfriend arrested in order to

         20  get an order of protection, she refused. She said

         21  she could not do that to him. Could not hurt him or

         22  humiliate him this way. After all, she still loved

         23  him. She also feared that getting him arrested would

         24  just make him angrier and more violent.

         25                 Since we know how obliviant most
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          2  domestic violence victims feel about leaving their

          3  abusers, we believe that removing the additional

          4  barrier of having to go through the intimidating

          5  process of petitioning for an order of protection in

          6  Criminal Court, rather than in Family Court, would

          7  assist women in following through with their

          8  decision to end an abusive relationship. It is also

          9  very common that having an abuser arrested rather

         10  than deter him from future violence only acerbates

         11  the situation and triggers the cycle of retaliation

         12  that might be able to be avoided if a client could

         13  petition for an order of protection without having

         14  her partner arrested.

         15                 Marilyn, is a client who had been

         16  abused for more than two decades. She regularly came

         17  to the office with bruises on her arms, back and

         18  face. Very early in her relationship, the first time

         19  her partner beat her up, she called the police had

         20  him arrested. He spent a night in jail and when he

         21  got out the next morning, he beat her much worse

         22  than the first time. He told her if she ever called

         23  the police again, he would kill her. So she dropped

         24  all charges. And although continued to be beat

         25  regularly, she never called the police again. She
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          2  was referred to the Family Wellness Program by the

          3  Children's Aid Society Foster Care Program. Her son

          4  was in foster care for reasons related to domestic

          5  violence. She wanted to end the relationship and

          6  have her son returned to her. But she was both

          7  afraid and financially dependent on her abuser. As a

          8  single woman with no children in her care, she could

          9  not get a shelter bed either. Finally, she left her

         10  partner and went to stay with a friend. She

         11  attempted to get an order of protection through

         12  Criminal Court, but could not get one.

         13                 Marilyn finally got an order of

         14  protection after her ex- partner tracked her down

         15  and beat her up again and a neighbor called the

         16  police. However, a few months later, Marilyn's ex-

         17  partner accused Marilyn of stalking of him and

         18  threatening to set his apartment on fire. Marilyn

         19  was arrested, spent the night in jail and her

         20  batterer succeeded in getting an order of protection

         21  against her. Ultimately, the District Attorney

         22  dropped both cases and the order of protections

         23  because he said he was unable to determine who was

         24  the primary aggressor.

         25                 Today, Marilyn is still being
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          2  stalked, harassed, and is constantly fearful for her

          3  life. If she had been able to get an order of

          4  protection in Family Court when she first made the

          5  decision to leave her partner, she might have been

          6  able to avoid the most recent attack without

          7  triggering her partner's retaliatory actions. Some

          8  might say that if a batterer is that dangerous, he

          9  should be arrested and I would agree. But only if

         10  you can promise me that he would stay in jail long

         11  enough that he wouldn't be able to get out and

         12  retaliate against his partner or former partner.

         13  Unfortunately, that's very rarely the case in our

         14  current criminal justice system.

         15                 The primary purpose of an order of

         16  protection is to protect the victim of abuse, to

         17  deter an abusive person from abusing by threatening

         18  him with a more serious consequence. But there is a

         19  secondary reason people get orders of protection in

         20  a system where services are often layered. Having an

         21  order of protection can allow a domestic violence

         22  victim to gain access to services that would help

         23  her achieve safety and independence in order to move

         24  on permanently and out of an abusive relationship.

         25  For example, things such as a public housing
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          2  transfer, expedite a Section 8 status, or an

          3  exemption from the HRA work requirement.

          4                 This was Lenoita's (phonetic) goal.

          5  To move out of her neighborhood where her abuser

          6  lived and move on with her life. She lived in public

          7  housing and had requested a transfer. But she could

          8  not get one without an order of protection. She had

          9  made a number of police reports about her ex-

         10  boyfriend's menacing behavior. The most recent one

         11  when he poured gasoline around her doorway and

         12  threatened to light it on fire. The police had a

         13  warrant out for his arrest. But told her they had

         14  been unsuccessful in locating him and Lenoita

         15  believed that tracking down her ex- partner was low

         16  on the Police Department's list of priorities.

         17                 Lenoita was also afraid to report to

         18  her welfare to work program because her abuser knew

         19  where she worked. If she had an order of protection,

         20  she would have been able to apply for an exemption

         21  from the program until she was able to successfully

         22  relocate with the housing transfer. But without it,

         23  she was threatened with having her benefits cut off

         24  or risking further abuse.

         25                 New York City's network of services
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          2  for domestic violence victims is to design not only

          3  to respond to victims in the immediate aftermath of

          4  violence, but to assist them in establishing the

          5  long- term safety and independence. They need an

          6  order to permanently free themselves of the domestic

          7  violence. If Resolution 589 is passed, many domestic

          8  violence victims will continue to use the Criminal

          9  Court to obtain orders of protection when they and

         10  their advocates believe this avenue is the best way

         11  to protect them from future abuse.

         12                 However, Resolution 589 gives victims

         13  who do not happen to be married or have a child in

         14  common, the additional option of petitioning for an

         15  order of protection in Family Court which in many

         16  cases may be the safest option. We believe that with

         17  this passage of Resolution 589, many victims of

         18  domestic violence would not seek orders of

         19  protection under the current system who will do so

         20  in Family Court and the result will be increased

         21  long- term safety, support and independence for

         22  these victims. Thank you, Council.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you.

         24  Councilman Seabrook, anything? Thank you very much.

         25  I want to thank everyone who came here to testify
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          2  today and I want to as well thank Council staff for

          3  their working in putting this hearing together. And

          4  I want to reiterate my disappointment with the

          5  failure of the Mayor's office of Domestic Violence

          6  to attend today and more importantly, for their

          7  office in Albany to fail to support this Intro with

          8  lobbying efforts. I don't understand and I cannot

          9  fathom why they would not. I know that the Intro

         10  passed in the Assembly, stalled in the State Senate

         11  and I'm sure the Mayor's office support for these

         12  bills in Albany would make a major difference at the

         13  State Senate.

         14                 I will ask, witness, use the word

         15  outdated, to describe our current law and our

         16  current policy. We've come many, many millenniums

         17  from the day of the cave man when it was an

         18  acceptable part of a courting ritual to club your

         19  spouse over the head and drag her off. Just as we've

         20  adapted and adopted and civilized ourselves, the law

         21  must change to reflect those change in realities and

         22  to reflect society today. We have many, many, many

         23  people living in relationships, participating in

         24  relationships that are not covered by the current

         25  order of protection process in a way that is
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          2  sufficient to meet their needs. We need to make that

          3  change. We need to do it now. We need to pass that

          4  legislation in Albany and I hope that we will get on

          5  the same page and get that done in the very near

          6  future.

          7                 I would also hope that our friends in

          8  the Department of Education will not let another

          9  eight months pass with doing anything more than just

         10  talking about talking about this problem. These

         11  young people attend our schools. We want to keep

         12  them in our schools. We don't want anyone not going

         13  to school because they are afraid of the person who

         14  is sitting in the lunch room with them or in the

         15  next classroom with them and it is imperative that

         16  someone over at Tweed get that message and get

         17  working on this as well. And having said all of

         18  that, I hereby adjourn this hearing.

         19                 (Meeting adjourned at 12:05 p.m.)

         20                 (Following written testimony was read

         21  into the record)

         22  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF

             Helen Weinstein

         23  Center for Court Innovation

         24

         25                 As awareness of domestic violence has
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          2  grown, court systems across the country have

          3  responded by developing new strategies for assisting

          4  adult battered women. Despite its prevalence,

          5  domestic violence between young people has often

          6  fallen outside of these efforts. This lack of

          7  attention is manifest in the results: In an internal

          8  review of domestic violence cases in the King's

          9  County District Attorney's Office, domestic violence

         10  cases against teen defendants resulted in dismissals

         11  approximately 77 percent of the time. This shouldn't

         12  be surprising: Faced with huge numbers of cases,

         13  district attorneys, advocates and social service

         14  agencies often concentrate their resources on those

         15  defendants with prior records. While teen defendants

         16  may have been youthful offenders, they rarely have

         17  adult criminal records.

         18                 Additionally, teen domestic violence

         19  cases are further complicated by the reluctance of

         20  victims to participate in the prosecution, the large

         21  percentage of teen victims who have children with

         22  the defendants, the general distrust that adolescent

         23  have of adults and the desire of many teen victims

         24  to stay in relationships with their abusers.

         25                 The criminal justice system is not
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          2  the only area lacking in adequate interventions for

          3  teenage victims. Cultural influences and social

          4  service shortages contribute to the complexity of

          5  addressing teen domestic violence. Traditional

          6  social service responses, such as shelter, may not

          7  be available or appropriate for teen victims and

          8  advocates, accustomed to working with adults, may

          9  not be comfortable confronting teenagers'

         10  developmental issues.

         11                 The bottom line is that the current

         12  societal response to domestic violence by teens

         13  against teens does little to send the message that

         14  this behavior is unacceptable. There are few

         15  mechanisms to ensure that offenders are held

         16  accountable and few targeted services devoted to the

         17  unique needs of adolescent victims.

         18                 The New York State Court System,

         19  under the leadership of Chief Judge Judith S. Kaye,

         20  has dramatically changed the way that courts handle

         21  domestic violence cases. In 1996, in cooperation

         22  with Brooklyn District Attorney Charles J. Hynes,

         23  the court system open the first domestic violence

         24  court in New York State in Brooklyn. Due to the

         25  success of this experiment, which improved services
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          2  to victims and improved the accountability of

          3  offenders, there are now over 30 domestic violence

          4  parts throughout the State.

          5                 Building on this model, in December

          6  of 2003, the New York State Unified Court System

          7  launched the Brooklyn Youthful Offender Domestic

          8  Violence Court. The Court provides an opportunity to

          9  address the unique and complicated issues that

         10  adolescents in dating violence situations bring into

         11  the court system while providing developmentally

         12  appropriate services to both defendants and

         13  complainants. The Court does not expect to change

         14  teen victims' reluctance to trust the criminal

         15  justice process, but it does aim to at least let

         16  them know that help is available.

         17                 In the first six months of operation,

         18  beginning December 2003, there were over 135

         19  youthful offender domestic violence cases adjourned

         20  to the Brooklyn Youthful Offender Domestic Violence

         21  Court. In 50 percent of those cases, the teen victim

         22  and teen defendant did not have children in common.

         23  This means that under the current law half of the

         24  victims, all of whom were teens, would not be able

         25  to apply for and receive an order of protection from
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          2  a New York State Family Court. Looking at a snapshot

          3  of the teen victims, 79 percent of 58 victims

          4  reported a history of abuse, and 28 percent of 74

          5  victims received medical attention as a result of

          6  the abuse.

          7                 While the YODVC is able to offer

          8  teens specialized services, in the form of a Teen

          9  Victim Advocate and an adolescent perpetrators'

         10  group for teen defendants, many teens are still

         11  reluctant to pursue protection through the criminal

         12  justice system. Prior to the YODVC the District

         13  Attorney's Office estimates that teen victims signed

         14  corroborating affidavits less than 10 percent of the

         15  time. With the YODVC and the specialized victim

         16  advocate, teen victims signed corroborating

         17  affidavits 50 percent of the time. That still means

         18  that half of teen victims decided not to participate

         19  in the prosecution of a domestic violence charge

         20  against their abuser and, for those who do not have

         21  a child, a child in common, are left with no other

         22  avenue to obtain an order of protection.

         23                 As court systems focus attention on

         24  the growing need to respond more effectively to teen

         25  dating violence victims, Brooklyn's Youthful
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          2  Offender Domestic Violence Court offers one model

          3  that ensures victims are provided with appropriate

          4  services and demonstrates to offenders that their

          5  crimes are taken seriously. While we are pleased

          6  with our results so far, we recognize that the need

          7  is even greater. We look forward to working together

          8  to find ways to address it effectively.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 12:05 p.m.)
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          9            I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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